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	MICHAEL S. GURNETT, 

          Employee, 

              Claimant,

          v. 

KINLEY'S RESTAURANT & BAR,

          Employer,

          and 

REPUBLIC INDEMNITY CO.

 OF AMERICA,

         Insurer,

              Defendants.
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	FINAL DECISION AND ORDER

AWCB Case No.  200716426
AWCB Decision No. 09-0212  

Filed with AWCB Anchorage, Alaska

on December 31, 2009


The Alaska Workers’ Compensation Board (Board) heard the employer’s May 18, 2009 Petition for Review of the Reemployment Eligibility Determination and the employee’s June 22, 2009 claim for additional penalty on August 19, 2009 in Anchorage, Alaska.  Attorney Steve Constantino represented the employee (claimant).  Attorney Erin Egan represented the employer and insurer (employer).  No witnesses testified.  The record closed at the conclusion of the hearing on August 19, 2009.


ISSUES

The employer contends the Reemployment Benefit Administrator (RBA) Designee abused her discretion in finding the employee eligible for reemployment benefits for the following reasons:  1) the job descriptions submitted to the physicians used combined SCODDOTs in one document; 2) Shawn Hadley, M.D., was not asked to predict whether the employee would have the physical capacities equal to or greater than the physical demands of the job described; and 3) the reemployment eligibility evaluation did not mention the opinions of the EME physician or other physicians involved in the employee’s care.  The claimant contends the RBA’s practice of combining more than one job description to a single job in order obtain the most accurate description of an employee’s work does not violate AS 23.30.041(e), is specifically permitted by regulation 8 AAC 45.525(a)(2), and promotes the legislative purpose of predictability, objectivity and cost reduction.  In addition, the employee argues it is the long standing practice of the Board 

1. Did the RBA Designee abuse her discretion when she determined the claimant is eligible for reemployment benefits?

The claimant contends: 1) the employer is in partial default under AS 23.30.170 for the penalty awarded to him in the AWCB Decision No. 09-0017 (January 30, 2009)(Gurnett II); 2) and therefore he is entitled to a penalty under AS 23.30.155(f) and interest pursuant to AS 23.30.155(p) on the amount of awarded penalties in default.  The employer argues the claimant has received all benefits to which he is entitled and the issue of penalties is currently awaiting a decision from the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission (AWCAC), so that the Board should put its decision on this issue on hold until the AWCAC issues its decision.

2. Is the employer in partial default under AS 23.30.170 of a penalty award in Gurnett II?

3. Is the claimant entitled to an award of a penalty under AS 23.30.155(f) on the amount of awarded penalties in default?

4. Is the claimant entitled to an award of interest under AS 23.30.155(p) on the amount of the Board’s award in default?

5. Is the claimant entitled to an award of reasonable attorney’s fees and legal costs pursuant to AS 23.30.145?


FINDINGS OF FACT

The following facts are established in review of the entire record, by a preponderance of the evidence:

1. The claimant testified his work injury occurred while he was working at the employer’s on September 26, 2007.
  He testified he was filling catsup containers at about eleven in the morning, a task which required him to stand right next to the walk-in cooler door, when the chef kicked the door open, striking him in the forehead.
  He testified he looked up, and it seemed to go dark for a minute.
  He also testified he was unsteady, and attempted to steady himself by leaning on a nearby table.
  The claimant testified there was blood running into his eye and swelling in the area, but he was able to complete his work day, albeit with difficulty.
  He testified he did not work the day after the injury, but did work Friday, September 28, 2007, when he struggled to do his job duties and had difficulty using the computer at work, upsetting the owner.
  He testified the owner had witnessed the incident on September 26, 2007, and the owner completed an incident report on Friday, September 28, 2007.
 

2. At the June 12, 2008 deposition and the November 18, 2008 hearing, the claimant testified concerning his job at the employer’s.  He testified he was hired as a server, and the duties of the job were to set up the brewing of the beverages, such as iced teas and coffees, which included placing large containers in the refrigerated units, preparing the bread, and stocking the dishes, and preparing the tables.
  The job also involved serving the guests, cleanup, bussing cleanup, polishing all the silverware and the glasses, and stocking supplies, which involved going downstairs into the basement and carrying boxes of server supplies and the linens upstairs.
  He testified he had to carry racks of 36-40 glasses, which weighed 35 to 45 pounds, and stack the racks overhead.

3. The claimant testified he was aware the employer had submitted a job description to Dr. Tolbert, but he was not asked to approve the job description beforehand.  He testified his job at employer’s was that of a server and a busser, as the servers at employer’s also performed bussing duties.
  The claimant also testified the employer told him Dr. Tolbert had released him to work, so he contacted the manager at his place of work, but the manager refused to let him come back to work, saying he would be putting himself, guests, and coworkers at risk for an accident.  He testified he reviewed the job description and the work release with the manager, and the manager showed him why the demands of the job would prevent the claimant from returning to work at employer’s.  In addition, he testified the manager indicated to him the job description of server was not an accurate job description for the claimant’s job at employer’s.  The claimant also testified he showed the work release to another previous employer, also a restaurant, who said it would be inappropriate for him to return there to work.
  He testified he requested the manager at employer’s contact the employer’s adjustor to inform the adjustor of the concerns the manager had about the claimant’s return to work, which the manager did in a February 26, 2008 email to Dr. Tolbert.
  The claimant testified the manager’s concerns as expressed in this email included the following comment:  “Most poignantly, the diminished depth perception, balance, and peripheral vision leave Michael, our guests, and his coworkers at risk for further accidents.”
  

4. The claimant testified the pain continued to worsen, and he finally sought medical care Friday, September 28, 2007, at Providence Alaska Medical Center (PAMC).
  He was evaluated at PAMC emergency room (ER) by Eva Carey, M.D,
 who evaluated the claimant and assessed headache of unknown etiology.
  She referred him for a head CT, which was normal.
  The claimant was advised to see his physician in one week, but to return immediately if he had new or increasing symptoms or fevers.

5. On September 30, 2007, the claimant testified he was seen by Dennis Brinkerhoff, O.D., for a regular eye appointment.
  He further testified Dr. Brinkerhoff diagnosed Horner’s syndrome,
 suspected carotid
 dissection, and referred the claimant to neuro-opthalmologist Carl Rosen, M.D.

6. On October 4, 2007, the claimant completed a Report of Occupational Injury or Illness (ROI), which was filed with the Board on October 11, 2007.
  He described the injury as a blow to the head from a walk-in door, when the chef opened the door, striking his head.
  

7. Due to his new onset Horner’s syndrome, an MRI of the brain was performed on the claimant on October 9, 2007, which showed one tiny focus of increased signal intensity in the periventricular white matter near the posterior horn of the left lateral ventricle, which radiologist David Moeller, M.D., opined might represent a tiny microvascular infarct.
  In addition, it was noted there was a low signal void missing in the internal carotid
 within the cavernous portion of the left internal carotid artery.
  At Dr. Moeller’s recommendation, an MRI scan was performed on the orbit, face and neck of the claimant.
  He noted there was lack of flow signal void in the left internal carotid.
  Dr. Moeller recommended an MRI angiogram.
 

8. On October 11, 2007, the claimant was evaluated by Dr. Rosen for his Horner’s syndrome in the left eye, which had begun after the work injury.
  Dr. Rosen noted the symptoms were constant and significant.  He also noted the claimant complained of a chronic headache behind his ear.
  Dr. Rosen referred the claimant to neurosurgeon Marshall Tolbert, M.D., for evaluation and to rule out dissection of the carotid artery.
  At Dr. Rosen’s request, an MRI angiogram of the head was performed on the claimant on October 11, 2007.
  This showed diminished flow in the left internal carotid artery, with a moderate to high-grade stenosis at the terminus.
  An MRI angiogram of the neck was also performed, which showed a long segment stenosis of the left internal carotid artery reaching approximately 75% below the skull base.

9. On October 15, 2007, the claimant saw neurosurgeon Marshall Tolbert, M.D., for an evaluation.
  The claimant described his September 26, 2007 work injury, and stated although his left temple was numb initially, that had nearly resolved.
  He complained of progressively increasing headaches, particularly in the left frontal temporal region, extending down to the mastoid and upper neck on the left.
  Dr. Tolbert noted the CT scan performed the previous week at PAMC ER was unremarkable, but the MRI angiography performed on October 11, 2007 showed significant narrowing of the distal cervical left internal carotid artery, tapering from the distal cervical region to a near string sign, which extended several centimeters to the skull base.
  Dr. Tolbert diagnosed traumatic dissection of the left distal cervical internal carotid artery, with resulting Horner’s syndrome, but no evidence of transient ischemic attacks or strokes, and no abnormalities consistent with ischemia on the MRI scan.
  Dr. Tolbert recommended angioplasty and stent placement due to the near complete occlusion of the artery.
  

10. On October 18, 2007, Dr. Tolbert wrote a letter to the employer expressing his concern over a delay in treatment due to the employer’s desire to obtain a second opinion.
  Dr. Tolbert explained the claimant was at high risk for stroke until the dissection was treated, and urged the second opinion must be done very soon.
  Dr. Tolbert requested that the employer contact him to arrange for the transfer of the claimant’s care to another physician if the employer did not want to follow his recommendations.

11. Nevertheless, the employer’s medical evaluation (EME) evaluation was delayed until October 29, 2007, when the claimant was seen by board certified neurosurgeon Paul Williams, M.D.
  Dr. Williams reviewed the medical records and performed a history and physical examination on the claimant.
  Dr. Williams opined the September 26, 2007 work injury was the substantial cause of the claimant’s left Horner’s syndrome and stenosis of his left internal carotid artery.
  He further opined the appropriate treatment for the claimant’s condition was anticoagulation or angioplasty, and that he had not reached medical stability.
  Dr. Williams also opined the claimant should avoid extreme positioning of his neck over the next 6 months if he chose medical treatment or until after he had healed thoroughly if he chose surgical treatment.

12. On November 5, 2007, the claimant saw Dr. Tolbert, who diagnosed left cervical dissection and ocular sympathetic palsy, or partial Horner’s syndrome, due to the dissection.
  Dr. Tolbert opined that due to the significant extent of the dissection, the claimant would benefit from stenting of the dissected artery, and planned the procedure for that week.

13. The claimant was admitted to PAMC and underwent bilateral common and internal carotid artery angiograms, and a left vertebral artery angiogram on November 15, 2007.
  These tests demonstrated a dilation of the left internal carotid artery, consistent with a preexisting arterial dissection, but no significant stenosis or pseudoaneurysm, so that no interventional treatment was warranted.

14. On November 26, 2007, the claimant was seen for a follow up evaluation of his left carotid dissection by Dr. Tolbert.
  Dr. Tolbert diagnosed left-sided Horner’s syndrome secondary to the left internal carotid artery dissection and noted angiography demonstrated interval healing.
  He recommended follow-up with Dr. Rosen for repeat evaluation of the Horner’s syndrome.
  The claimant was evaluated by Dr. Rosen on December 6, 2007.
  Dr. Rosen opined the claimant’s Horner’s syndrome was still present, with no diplopia, but with lower intraocular pressure in the left eye and difficulty reading.  He also opined the claimant might require correction of Horner’s ptosis of the left upper eyelid.
 

15.  The employer wrote a letter to Dr. Tolbert on January 10, 2008, with an accompanying job description of a server/waiter, which it claimed was the claimant’s job at the time of injury.
  In this letter, the employer asked Dr. Tolbert to offer his opinion on whether the claimant was able to return to his job at the time of injury, as well as whether he was medically stable.

16. On February 4, 2008, the claimant underwent a repeat neck MRI angiogram, which was suspicious for a focal left internal carotid artery dissection just below the skull base with 40-50% stenosis.
  An MRI of the brain performed the same day showed three punctate foci of increased FLAIR intensity in the left cerebral subcortical white matter, two in the frontal lobe and one in the parietal lobe.
  The radiologist interpreted these foci as likely representing foci of gliosis from remote brain insults or early chronic microvascular disease.
  There was also a tiny right mastoid effusion.
  

17. On February 7, 2008, an MRI angiogram of the neck was performed, which showed the diffuse left internal carotid artery stenosis noted on the prior study had nearly resolved.
  Dr. Winn noted there was a residual minor smooth narrowing of the proximal cervical segment and a focal low-grade web-like stenosis at the skull base.

18. In response to the employer’s January 10, 2008 letter, on an undated note received by the employer on February 13, 2008, Dr. Tolbert noted the claimant was able to return to his job at the time of injury.
  This release to work was based on the job description of a waiter/waitress, formal, alternative title server, with a light strength requirement.
  However, on February 26, 2008, the employer emailed Dr. Tolbert, stating it enjoyed having the claimant as an employee, but it did not think it would be in his or the employer’s best interests for the claimant to return to work.  The employer opined that due to the claimant’s diminished depth perception, balance, and peripheral vision, the claimant, guests and coworkers would be at risk for further accidents.

19. The claimant filed a workers’ compensation claim (WCC) on February 27, 2008, claiming TTD from February 15, 2008 forward, PPI, reemployment eligibility evaluation, and a penalty.
  The injury was described as head, neck, left internal carotid artery and left trigeminal nerve injury.
  The employer answered the WCC, admitting a claim for TTD from October 12, 2007 through February 13, 2008, but denying all other claims.
  The employer based its denial of TTD after February 13, 2008 on Dr. Tolbert’s work release.

20. On March 3, 2008, the claimant was seen by Dr. Rosen, for evaluation of his Horner’s syndrome.
  Dr. Rosen noted the Horner’s syndrome was still present, and the claimant had difficulty reading, but no diplopia.
  He diagnosed convergence insufficiency or palsy in the left eye and noted the claimant needed an orthoptic evaluation.
  The orthoptic evaluation was performed by Diane Armitage, who diagnosed convergence insufficiency and left upper lid ptosis.
 

21. On March 10, 2008, the Board referred the claimant to Loretta Cortis, a certified disability management specialist (CDMS) and rehabilitation specialist for a reemployment eligibility evaluation.

22. On March 13, 2008, the employer controverted TTD, as noted above, as well as PPI, reemployment benefits and the penalty.
  The employer maintained no PPI was due since the claimant was not medically stable, and no eligibility evaluation was warranted, as the claimant had been released to his regular work.
  The employer also asserted no penalty was due, since all benefits had been timely paid.
  

23. On March 19, 2008, Dr. Rosen predicted the claimant would have at least a 1% permanent partial impairment (PPI) as a result of his work injury.
  In addition, Dr. Rosen opined the claimant would not have the capacity to perform all the physical demands of his job at the time of injury.

24. On March 24, 2008, there is a note in the claimant’s chart from Dr. Tolbert’s office indicating the claimant called regarding his work status.
  He was told he needed to obtain a work release from Dr. Rosen.
  It is also noted the employer was notified Dr. Tolbert was not the only doctor treating the claimant, and the employer needed to check with Dr. Rosen concerning work restrictions.

25. At the April 9, 2008 Pre-Hearing Conference, the claimant amended his WCC to include medical and transportation costs, PPI when rated, interest, and attorney’s fees and costs.
  The nature of the injury was amended to include left carotid artery dissection, injury to the sympathetic nervous system, Horner’s Syndrome, and impaired cognitive function.
  

26. On April 14, 2008, the claimant saw Dr. Tolbert for follow up of his carotid dissection.
  The claimant reported the visual obscurations in the left visual field were improving, as was his left-sided headache, although he occasionally had sharp pain radiating from his left posterior cervical region over the left occipital region.
  He also reported problems seeing in dim light and trouble typing.
  The claimant complained of occasional left arm spasms and reported his job required him to lift heavy objects and carry cases of wine up and down stairs.
  Dr. Tolbert reviewed the February 7, 2008 MRI angiography and noted there was significant improvement in the left internal carotid artery stenosis, and a focal stenosis at the skull base.
  He opined the claimant’s dissection was almost completely resolved with a small focal stenotic region.
  He discontinued the high-dose aspirin, but continued the Plavix.  Dr. Tolbert recommended follow up in four months with repeat CT angiography.
  Dr. Tolbert opined that, from a neurosurgery standpoint, a review of the claimant’s work requirements did not reveal any activities he could not perform, although he would have to be very careful when carrying heavy objects or walking down stairs carrying boxes.  He referred the claimant for vocational evaluation.
  Dr. Tolbert opined the claimant had been disabled from work from February 14, 2008, and would be disabled until he completed his physical capacity examination (PCE).
  On April 17, 2008, Dr. Tolbert referred the claimant to Shawn Hadley, M.D., for evaluation and treatment for return to work status.

27. On April 29, 2008, the claimant was seen by Robert Arnold, M.D., for follow up on his left Horner’s syndrome.
  Dr. Arnold found the claimant’s left Horner’s syndrome was still present, and the claimant reported difficulty reading.
  Dr. Arnold diagnosed convergence insufficiency or palsy, and recommended an orthoptic evaluation.

28. The claimant testified he met with Dr. Tolbert in late April, 2008, and at that time discussed his work release with Dr. Tolbert.  In addition, he testified he had talked with Dr. Tolbert’s office personnel concerning his overall work release prior to his April appointment.  He testified based on his conversations with Dr. Tolbert’s office, Dr. Tolbert’s office opined Dr. Rosen was the appropriate person to contact concerning a work release and work restrictions.  The claimant further testified he took with him to Dr. Tolbert’s office a job description for his job at the time of injury which came from the board-assigned rehabilitation specialist, and which combined the job descriptions for server and busser as the appropriate job description for the claimant’s job at the time of the injury.  The claimant testified Dr. Tolbert declined to approve or disapprove the job description and deferred to Dr. Hadley.  The claimant testified Dr. Tolbert gave him a work release stating he was disabled from work from February 14, 2008 until after a PCE is completed.  He testified he has still not had a PCE.  He further testified one of the office personnel made a mistake filling out the form initially, but corrected the start of disability date to February 14, 2008 from April 14, 2008.
  The claimant testified it was suggested he had forged the correction, so he asked Dr. Tolbert to fill out another form, which Dr. Tolbert did, and that “clean” form without corrections was submitted to the employer.

29. On April 30, 2008, at the employer’s request, the claimant was seen again by the EME neurosurgeon Dr. Williams.
  Dr. Williams reviewed the claimant’s medical history and performed a physical examination.
  He noted the claimant complained of mild decreased sensation on his forehead and aching in his left lateral dorsal neck at an intensity of 2 on a scale of 1 to 10, with 10 being the most severe pain imaginable.
  On physical examination, Dr. Williams noted a well-healed laceration on the claimant’s left forehead, slight decreased sensation in the left V1 distribution of the trigeminal nerve, a left pupil that was slightly smaller than the right one, and full extraocular movements, except for a slight convergence deficit.
  He concluded the physical examination was otherwise normal.
  Dr. Williams diagnosed the claimant with a dissection of the left internal carotid artery, resolving, a left Horner’s syndrome, with a smaller left eye pupil and very mild convergence deficit with minimal ptosis of the left eyelid.
  He opined the September 26, 2007 work injury was the substantial cause of the left internal carotid artery dissection and the left Horner’s syndrome.
  He further opined the claimant was medically stable, with no PPI.
  Dr. Williams opined the claimant was permanently restricted from lifting greater than 50 pounds occasionally, so that he could not return to his job at the time of injury if that job required more weight lifting.
  He stated the treatment rendered had been reasonable and necessary, but he did not recommend any further diagnostic tests or treatment.
 

30. On May 7, 2008, Certified Disability Management Specialist (CDMS) Cortis wrote to the RBA Designee, stating both Dr. Rosen and Dr. Tolbert had declined to review the job descriptions, and Dr. Tolbert had referred the claimant to Dr. Hadley.

31. On May 19, 2008, the employer controverted medical benefits, time loss benefits, PPI and reemployment benefits, based on the April  30, 2008 EME report of Dr. Williams, who opined the claimant was medically stable with no permanent partial impairment and that further medical treatment was not indicated.
  

32. The claimant was evaluated by board certified physical medicine and rehabilitation specialist Dr. Hadley, on June 19, 2008.
  The claimant complained of difficulty with his vision in low light conditions, constant headaches with pain at a 4 to 6 over 10, increasing to 8-9 over 10 at times.
  He also complained of numbness in the left frontal area of his forehead, and left shoulder and chest pain when using his elliptical trainer.
  The claimant also reported memory problems, including losing his keys and losing his way to the hospital.
  He complained of decreased dexterity in his left hand and decreased ability to type.
  Dr. Hadley opined there were preinjury issues impacting the claimant’s presentation.
  Dr. Hadley recommended cardiology and neuropsychological evaluations before proceeding with specific treatment recommendations.

33. On June 26, 2008, the claimant was evaluated by board certified cardiologist James Baldauf, M.D., who noted he had been referred for complaints of a continuous low substernal ache which waxed and waned in intensity, and included left arm discomfort when it became very severe.
  Dr. Baldauf found he had chest discomfort of uncertain etiology, with typical features, and an abnormal electrocardiogram.
  Dr. Baldauf ordered a chest CT, which showed tiny bilateral indeterminate pulmonary nodules.
  The chest CT was evaluated by John Finley, M.D., for coronary artery calcium scoring, and the score was 0, indicating no identifiable calcified plaque.

34. The claimant underwent a CT angiogram of the head and neck on July 28, 2008, at Dr. Tolbert’s request.
  Dr. Winn noted both internal carotid arteries were of normal caliber throughout, with no significant narrowing.

35. On August 4th and 5th, 2008, on referral from Dr. Hadley, the claimant underwent a neuropsychological evaluation by Paul Craig, Ph.D., a board certified clinical neuropsychologist.
  The claimant reported he “felt retarded” initially, but also felt his cognition had improved over time.
  He reported he had to relearn how to type and has to think things through much more carefully than was the case before he was injured.
  He also complained of being more forgetful than he was before the injury, but he had learned to write critical information down and keep information well organized.
  The claimant stated his vision had deteriorated slightly, and that he saw double when looking at objects very closely.
 

36.  The claimant underwent many tests during the neuropsychological evaluation.
  His level of effort was good, without evidence of malingering during testing.
  Intelligence testing showed him to be in the high-average range of intellectual ability, although speed of information-processing and speed of responding fell in the low-average to borderline range.
  Dr. Craig opined the claimant’s abilities were markedly decreased as a consequence of the neurological event due to the work injury, although many of his skills were spared.
  He further opined if the claimant was asked to process information very quickly and respond quickly, he might have difficulty doing so.
  Dr. Craig found the claimant’s visual problem of difficulty with convergence at very close range would not be debilitating for practical purposes.
  He found the motor speed and fine motor dexterity skills of the claimant, who is right-handed, were mildly diminished in the left hand.
  The claimant’s visual-motor coordination was found to be normal.
  His verbal fluency was found to be normal, and he was not found to have expressive or receptive aphasic disorder.
  However, his performance on a memory test which consisted of memorizing a list of 16 shopping items was 1.2 standard deviations below the mean.
  The claimant’s general memory index was at the 21st percentile compared with age-mates, and he had some auditory-verbal mnestic dysfunction on very lengthy and complex list-learning tasks, but his memory performance otherwise ranged from average to low-average.
  In the area of problem-solving and executive functions, the claimant demonstrated very significant limitation, which Dr. Craig opined was an indication he might have some residual higher cortical dysfunction associated with the carotid dissection.
  He also opined the claimant’s capacity to multitask might be somewhat limited, and he might have difficulty efficiently shifting among problem-solving strategies based upon changing circumstances.
  Dr. Craig opined the claimant’s flexibility of thinking is his primary area of limitation in problem-solving and executive function.
  In the area of academic functioning, Dr. Craig found no learning disability.
  In the area of emotional functioning, the claimant had some residual symptoms of anxiety, consistent with a history of having been treated for post-traumatic stress disorder.
  Dr. Craig’s diagnostic impression was the claimant had measurable evidence of mild disruption in higher cortical processes and he met the diagnostic criteria for cognitive disorder not otherwise specified.

37. Based on his evaluation, Dr. Craig recommended the claimant and those working with him should be apprised he shows evidence of some neurocognitive inefficiency, which was thought to be associated with the temporary disruption in cerebrovascular supply through the left carotid artery.
  Dr. Craig found the claimant’s speed of information-processing and speed of responding were significantly diminished; he had some limitations with regard to complex auditory-verbal learning, as well as on certain tasks requiring flexibility of thinking and related executive functions.
  He opined the scatter among his strengths and weaknesses suggest that these deficits are acquired rather than long-standing, and functionally significant.
  

38. Dr. Craig asserted the claimant would require cognitive rehabilitation and learning compensatory strategies to improve his condition, and he referred him to Anne Ver Hoef, M.A., C.C.C./S.L.P. for cognitive rehabilitation services.
  Dr. Craig opined training as a paralegal would be a realistic goal for the claimant.
  

39. On August 7, 2008, the claimant saw Dr. Rosen for follow-up of his Horner’s syndrome.
  He reported the symptoms were improving, although he felt his vision was not as good as it could be, and he had recently had difficulty passing the vision part of his driver’s test.

40. On August 20, 2008, the claimant was seen for follow up by Dr. Tolbert, when he reported he felt better overall.
  He also reported his headaches had resolved, although he occasionally had mild pain radiating from the left retromastoid region to above his ear.
  Dr. Tolbert noted the CT angiogram performed in July, 2008, demonstrated complete healing of the left internal carotid artery dissection.
  He opined the carotid artery dissection resulted in a mild left Horner’s syndrome, and a mild left miosis and very mild ptosis remained.
  He also opined there were no physical restrictions from his point of view, but the claimant should avoid activities which place him at high risk for significant trauma of the head or neck, such as downhill skiing.
  Dr. Tolbert also opined the claimant should avoid chiropractic manipulation.
  On August 26, 2008, the claimant was evaluated by Dennis Brinkerhoff, O.D., who noted continued subtle ptosis of the left upper eyelid and subtle enophthalmos
 of the left eye as well.

41. On September 8th and 12th, 2008, speech and language pathologist (SLP)Anne Ver Hoef of of the Anchorage Speech-Language-Cognitive Clinic saw the claimant for a speech-language-cognitive evaluation.
  After two extensive interviews of cognitive language skills, SLP Ver Hoef opined the claimant demonstrated impairments in cognitive-communicative skills, including word retrieval, other verbal memory skills, higher level concentration and language processing, verbal reasoning, and clarity and efficiency in language expression.
  SLP Ver Hoef planned treatment one to two times per week for ten weeks, with long term goals of improving efficiency and efficacy in applying memory strategies, word retrieval, clarity of language expression, and language organization.
  Other goals were to improve attention-concentration and higher level language processing to improve ability to focus on relevant information, ignore distractions and multi-task again as appropriate for education pursuits and work and community activities, and also to improve flexibility of thinking and deductive logic to make well-informed decisions.

42. On September 24, 2008, Dr. Hadley reviewed Dr. Craig’s neuropsychological report, noting Dr. Craig concluded the claimant demonstrated objective evidence of mild cognitive impairment which would be amenable to working with a speech therapist for cognitive retraining.
  Dr. Hadley requested that Dr. Craig administer the Minnesota Multiphasic Personality Inventory (MMPI) to the claimant and referred the claimant to SLP Ver Hoef to address the functional cognitive issues.

43. On October 1, 2008, Dr. Craig administered the MMPI-2.
  Based on the MMPI-2, Dr. Craig concluded the claimant has very high standards for himself and may have difficulty accepting the changes he was experiencing as a result of his recent neurological and medical problems.
  He opined it would be important in working with him therapeutically in cognitive rehabilitation to establish realistic goals.
  He further opined if realistic goals were maintained, it would be possible for him to make significant progress in the context of rehabilitation.
  Dr. Craig discussed the MMPI-2 tests with the claimant on October 13, 2008, and noted he was receptive to the feedback presented.
  Dr. Craig explained to the claimant he might tend in some circumstances to pay closer attention to physical symptoms than might be the case in the general population.
  He also advised him Dr. Hadley would explain to him whether his goal of becoming a paralegal under the workers’ compensation reemployment plan was realistic.

44. On October 21, 2008, the claimant saw Dr. Hadley for follow up.
  Dr. Hadley noted the claimant had been evaluated by the cardiologist Dr. Baldauf and discharged with no requirement for further cardiac care.
  She also noted the claimant had been evaluated by SLP Ver Hoef and had seen her for six visits, and was already implementing some of the cognitive retraining strategies suggested by SLP Ver Hoef.
  Dr. Hadley also noted Dr. Rosen had indicated the claimant could not return to his work at the time of injury, although she herself opined this issue would depend on how he progressed in his cognitive rehabilitation.
  She also noted the claimant had reported his work injury prior to the September 26, 2007 injury to Dr. Craig.

45. The October 29, 2008 progress summary written by SLP Ver Hoef indicated the claimant had participated in ten sessions of cognitive-language rehabilitation and was making good progress in applying memory and organizational strategies.
  The treatment plan submitted to Dr. Hadley indicated the claimant was undergoing therapy one to two times per week for eight weeks, starting on September 15, 2008.
  

46. The claimant continued to treat with SLP Ver Hoef.  In her February 6, 2009 progress summary, SLP Ver Hoef noted the claimant demonstrated significant difficulties on the tasks necessary for a food server, such as presenting specials, taking orders, and asking and answering questions.  She maintained he might have significant difficulties in the fast paced environment of an actual restaurant.

47. On April 14, 2009, rehabilitation specialist CDMS Cortis completed her eligibility evaluation report for reemployment benefits, finding the claimant eligible for rehabilitation services.  In her report, CDMS Cortis reviewed the claimant’s medical history, including the reports of Dr. Rosen, Dr. Tolbert, EME physician Dr. Williams, Dr. Hadley, Dr. Craig, and SLP Ver Hoef.  CDMS Cortis included with her report the Physician’s Prediction of Physical Capacities and Documentation of Permanent Impairment, as well as the combined SCODDOTs for: 1) restaurant or coffee shop manager, formal waiter/waitress, and hotel and restaurant busser; and 2) hotel or motel manager and baggage porter; and 3) small business owner, kitchen manager, formal waiter/waitress, and hotel & restaurant manager, all completed by Dr. Hadley on April 2, 2009.  Dr. Hadley opined the claimant’s physical capacities were limited to light work, and he predicted the claimant would have a permanent partial impairment.  In addition, Dr. Hadley disapproved all the job descriptions submitted.

48. On April 17, 2009, the employer’s attorney Ms. Egan raised a number of concerns regarding Ms. Cortis’ report as follows:  1) the ten year work history did not include two prior employers, Henry’s Great Alaskan Restaurant and Lake Lucille Inn; and 2) Ms. Cortis used combined SCODDOTs, which the RBA had indicated in the past was a disfavored practice.

49. On April 28, 2009, CDMS Cortis issued an addendum to her April 14, 2009 report, noting the two jobs omitted from the prior work history had the same SCODDOTs as those previously submitted to Dr. Hadley, and disapproved by him.  Therefore, the addendum also recommended the claimant was eligible for rehabilitation services.

50. On May 5, 2009, Ms. Egan objected to the addendum report, stating the addendum report had identified a new job description, that of kitchen manager, which had not been submitted to Dr. Hadley.  In addition, Ms. Egan continued her objection to the use of combined SCODDOTs.

51. On May 6, 2009, the RBA Designee determined the claimant was eligible for reemployment benefits.

52. On May 7, 2009, CDMS Cortis issued a corrected addendum addressing Ms. Egan’s May 5, 2009 objection to the new job description of kitchen manager.  CDMS Cortis explained the kitchen manager SCODRDOT listed in the April 28, 2009 addendum was incorrect in the report, but the job descriptions attached to the addendum were correct.  In addition, the kitchen manager position was submitted to Dr. Hadley and reviewed and signed by her, and attached to the April 14, 2009 report.

53. On May 7, 2009, the RBA Designee issued her opinion affirming her May 6, 2009 determination of eligibility.  In addition, she explained the Guide For Preparing Reemployment Benefits Eligibility Evaluations (Guide) had been issued in April 2009 and a training session was conducted on April 24, 2009.  The RBA Designee further explained rehabilitation experts had been requested to comply with the Guide for referrals made after April 24, 2009.  She also made clear the Guide recognized more than one SCODRDOT will be necessary to describe particular job tasks and duties, even though those SCODRDOT should not be in one document.  Finally, the RBA Designee stated since Dr. Hadley has precluded the claimant from performing any work in excess of light strength, and all his jobs have required a strength factor of medium level, the outcome would be the same whether the SCODDOT’s were on one document or separate documents.  The RBA Designee refused to reconsider her eligibility determination and require resubmission of the SCODDOTs in separate documents, further delaying the reemployment process for an initial referral made over a year prior to May 7, 2009.
54. On May 27, 2009, Dr. Hadley reported the claimant was “sometimes distracted and overwhelmed with multiple issues and demands on his time and attention,” but he was “very dedicated on following suggestions and strategies” and ready to proceed with retraining. 
55. On May 29, 2009, the claimant filed his election to receive reemployment benefits.
56. On June 28, 2009, SLP Ver Hoef disapproved the same job descriptions that had been submitted to Dr. Hadley and completed by her on April 2, 2009.  SLP Ver Hoef disapproved the formal waiter/waitress and busser job, stating the high level memory and multi-tasking capabilities are needed for this job, but the claimant is weak in these areas.  She also disapproved the hotel or motel manager and baggage porter position, stating executive functions, memory, concentration and word finding problems would preclude the claimant from this type of work, and his speed of processing and decision making were too slow as well.  Regarding the restaurant or coffee shop manger, formal waiter/waitress and hotel or restaurant busser job, SLP Ver Hoef disapprove this job as well, citing executive functions, verbal and visual memory, speed of processing and high level concentration and word finding problems, which precluded the claimant from this type of job.  SLP Ver Hoef also disapproved the small business owner and kitchen manager position, stating the cognitive and communicative challenges for this position were too high for the claimant.
57. On August 13, 2009, the claimant’s attorney filed his Affidavit of Attorney Fees and Costs, itemizing 43.6 hours of attorney time at $345 per hour, totaling $15,042.00, 15.1 hours of paralegal time at $145.00 per hour, totaling $2,189.50, and other costs of $109.00.  At hearing, the claimant’s attorney testified he had spent an additional 4.5 hours of attorney time, including the time required for the hearing.

PRINICPLES OF LAW

1. Did the RBA Designee abuse her discretion in finding the claimant eligible for reemployment benefits?

A. The standard of review:

Pursuant to AS 23.30.041(d) the RBA Designee’s decision must be upheld absent “an abuse of discretion on the administrator’s part.”  Several definitions of the phrase “abuse of discretion” appear in Alaska law although none occur in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Act (Act).  The Alaska Supreme Court has stated abuse of discretion consists of “issuing a decision which is arbitrary, capricious, manifestly unreasonable, or which stems from an improper motive.”
  An agency’s failure to properly apply the controlling law may also be considered an abuse of discretion.

The Administrative Procedure Act (APA) provides another definition for use by courts in considering appeals of administrative agency decisions.  It contains terms similar to those above and expressly includes reference to a “substantial evidence” standard:  

Abuse of discretion is established if the agency has not proceeded in the manner required by law, the order or decision is not supported by the findings, or the findings are not supported by the evidence. . . .  If it is claimed that the findings are not supported by the evidence, abuse of discretion is established if the court determines that the findings are not supported by (1) the weight of the evidence; or (2) substantial evidence in the light of the whole record.
  

On appeal to the Alaska Worker’s Compensation Appeals Commission and the Alaska Supreme Court, the Board’s decision reviewing the RBA’s determination is subject to reversal under the “abuse of discretion” standard of AS 44.62.570 incorporating the “substantial evidence test.”  Concern with meeting that standard on appeal leads us to apply a “substantial evidence” standard in our review of an RBA eligibility determination.  While applying a substantial evidence standard a “[reviewer] may not reweigh the evidence or draw its own inferences from the evidence.  If, in light of the record as a whole, there is such relevant evidence as a reasonable mind might accept as adequate to support a conclusion, then the order . . . must be upheld.”

The task of determining whether an abuse of discretion has taken place is aided by our practice of allowing additional evidence into the record at the review hearing.  The practice is based on the rationale expressed in several superior court opinions addressing that issue on appeal of our prior decisions.
  Nevertheless, pursuant to 8 AAC 45.070(b)(1)(A), we are precluded from considering additional evidence if the party offering that evidence failed to exercise reasonable diligence in developing and presenting that evidence.
  

After allowing the parties to enter their evidence, the Board reviews it as well as the evidence before the RBA to assess whether the RBA Designee’s decision was supported by substantial evidence and therefore reasonable.
  If, in light of all the evidence, the RBA Designee’s decision is not supported by substantial evidence, the Board concludes the RBA Designee abused her discretion and remands the matter for reexamination of the evidence and for necessary action.

B. The RBA Designee’s Decision

AS 23.30.041 provides, in part:

(e)  An employee shall be eligible for benefits under this section upon the employee’s written request and by having a physician predict that the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are less than the physical demands of the employee’s job as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s ‘Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles’ for:

(1) the employee’s job at the time of injury; or

(2) other jobs that exist in the labor market that the employee has held or received training for within 10 years before the injury or that the employee has held following the injury for a period long enough to obtain the skills to compete in the labor market, according to specific vocational preparation codes as described in the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s ‘Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Dictionary of Occupational Titles.’

(f) An employee is not eligible for reemployment benefits if

(1) the employer offers employment within the employee’s predicted post-injury physical capacities at a wage equivalent to at least the state minimum wage under AS 23.10.065 or 75 percent of the worker’s gross hourly wages at the time of injury, whichever is greater, and the employment prepares the employee to be employable in other jobs that exist in the labor market;

(2) the employee previously declined the development of a reemployment benefits plan under (g) of this section, received a job dislocation benefit under (g)(2) of this section, and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of injury;

(3) the employee has been previously rehabilitated in a former worker’s compensation claim and returned to work in the same or similar occupation in terms of physical demands required of the employee at the time of the previous injury; or

(4) at the time of medical stability, no permanent impairment is identified or expected.

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.510(b) states:

The administrator will consider a written request for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits if the compensability of the injury has not been controverted and if the request is submitted together with. . . . 

Our regulation 8 AAC 45.525, provides, in part:

(a) If an employee is found eligible for an eligibility evaluation for reemployment benefits under 8 AAC 45.510 or 8 AAC 45.520, the rehabilitation specialist shall

(1) interview the employee and, if necessary, the employer at the time of injury to obtain a description of the tasks and duties of the employee’s job at the time of injury;

(2) review the following volume and, from the volume, choose the most appropriate title or titles based on the description of the employee’s job; the volume to be reviewed under this paragraph is

. . .

(B) on or after August 30, 1998, the effective date of the amendment of AS 23.30.041(e) by sec. 1, ch. 59. SLA 1998, the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s “Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles” unless, under AS 23.30.041(q), the board has designated a later revision or version of that volume; and

(3) submit the job title or titles chosen under (2) of this subsection to a physician.

(b) When interviewing the employee the rehabilitation specialist shall obtain descriptions of the tasks and duties for other jobs that the employee has held or for which the employee received training within 10 years before the injury, and any jobs held after the injury.  The rehabilitation specialist shall

(1) review the following volume and, from the volume, choose the most appropriate job title or titles based on the employee’s descriptions of the job’s (sic) held and training received; the volume to be reviewed under this paragraph is

. . .

(B) on or after August 30, 1998, the effective date of the amendment of AS 23.30.041(e) by sec. 1, ch. 59. SLA 1998, the 1993 edition of the United States Department of Labor’s “Selected Characteristics of Occupations Defined in the Revised Dictionary of Occupational Titles” unless, under AS 23.30.041(q), the board has designated a later revision or version of that volume;

(2) determine whether the employee held the jobs long enough to meet the specific vocational preparation codes as described in the volume;

(3) submit the job title or titles chosen under (1)-(2) of this subsection, for which the employee meets the specific vocational preparation codes, to a physician.

(4) if the physician predicts the employee will have permanent physical capacities equal to or greater than the physical demands of a job or jobs, conduct a labor market survey to document that a reasonable number of job vacancies exist for those jobs. . . . 

2. Is the employer in partial default of a penalty award in Gurnett II, and is the claimant entitled to an award of a penalty and interest on the amount of penalties awarded in default?
See discussion below under analysis section.
3. Is the employee’s attorney entitled to attorney fees and costs?

AS 23.30.145 states, in pertinent part:

(a) Fees for legal services rendered in respect to a claim are not valid unless approved by the board, and the fees may not be less than 25 percent on the first $1,000 of compensation or part of the first $1,000 of compensation, and 10 percent of all sums in excess of $1,000 of compensation.  When the board advises that a claim has been controverted, in whole or in part, the board may direct that the fees for legal services be paid by the employer or carrier in addition to compensation awarded; the fees may be allowed only on the amount of compensation controverted and awarded. . . .

(b) If an employer fails to file timely notice of controversy or fails to pay compensation or medical and related benefits within 15 days after it becomes due or otherwise resists the payment of compensation or medical and related benefits and if the claimant has employed an attorney in the successful prosecution of the claim, the board shall make an award to reimburse the claimant for the costs in the proceedings, including a reasonable attorney fee. The award is in addition to the compensation or medical and related benefits ordered.

8 AAC 45.180 provides, in part:

(b) A fee under AS 23.30.145 will only be awarded to an attorney licensed to practice law in this state or another state.  An attorney seeking a fee from an employer for services performed on behalf of an applicant must apply to the board for approval of the fee. . . .  An attorney requesting a fee in excess of the statutory minimum in AS 23.30.145(a) must (1) file an affidavit itemizing the hours expended, as well as the extent and character of the work performed. . . .

. . .

(2) in awarding a reasonable fee under AS 23.30.145(b) the board will award a fee reasonably commensurate with the actual work performed and will consider the attorney’s affidavit filed under (1) of this subsection, the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the benefits resulting to the compensation beneficiaries from the services, and the amount of benefits involved.

. . .

(f) The board will award an applicant the necessary and reasonable costs relating to the preparation and presentation of the issues upon which the applicant prevailed at the hearing on the claim.  The applicant must file a statement listing each cost claimed, and must file an affidavit stating that the costs are correct and that the costs were incurred in connection with the claim. . . . 

The claimant is seeking actual attorney fees under AS 23.30.145(b). The Alaska Supreme Court noted in Williams v. Abood
 as follows: 

We have held that awards of attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145 "should be fully compensatory and reasonable, in order that injured workers have competent counsel available to them."  However, this does not mean that an attorney representing an injured employee in front of the board automatically gets full, actual fees. We held in Bouse v. Fireman's Fund Insurance Co. that an employee is entitled to "full reasonable attorney's fees for services performed with respect to issues on which the worker prevails." (Footnote omitted) 

Further, the award of attorney fees and costs must reflect the contingent nature of workers’ compensation proceedings. 

As we have noted, the objective of awarding attorney's fees in compensation cases is to ensure that competent counsel are available to represent injured workers.  Wien Air Alaska v. Arant, 592 P.2d at 365-66.  This objective would not be furthered by a system in which claimants' counsel could receive nothing more than an hourly fee when they win while receiving nothing at all when they lose.
 

ANALYSIS

1. Did the RBA Designee abuse her discretion in finding the claimant eligible for reemployment benefits?

Rehabilitation specialist Cortis asked Dr. Hadley to predict the claimant’s physical capacities to perform work upon reaching medical stability, whether the claimant would have a PPI as a result of his work injury, and whether the claimant would have the ability to perform his past relevant work.  Dr. Hadley predicted the claimant would have the physical capacity to perform light work only, and would incur a PPI.  In addition, Dr. Hadley disapproved all of claimant’s past relevant job descriptions, because all required a medium level strength.  When the employer questioned the omission of two of the claimant’s past jobs, CDMS Cortis determined the SCODDOTs for those jobs showed they also required medium strength, and continued to recommend the claimant be found eligible for reemployment benefits.  

The RBA Designee, based upon her own review and CDMS Cortis’ report, determined the claimant was eligible for reemployment benefits.  When the employer objected to the use of more than one SCODDOT in one document, the RBA Designee explained first, for referrals that were made before April 2009, the RBA did not require rehabilitation specialists to follow the Guide, which discouraged more than one SCODDOT in a single document.  The claimant’s referral had been made more than one year prior to May 2009.  In addition, she explained the Guide recognized more than one SCODDOT may be required to accurately describe a job.  Finally, she determined in the claimant’s case, all the claimant’s past jobs required medium strength, whereas the claimant was limited to light work, so requiring CDMS Cortis to resubmit each SCODDOT on a separate document, even if appropriate, would not lead to a different result.

There is significant Board precedent supporting the RBA Designee’s decision to use a “combined” job description for describing the claimant’s past work.  The combined job description correlates with the language in 8 AAC 45.525(b)(1), which requires the assigned vocational rehabilitation specialist to obtain the most appropriate “job title or titles” based on the employee’s descriptions of jobs held and training received.  In Gonzalez v. Ketchikan Pulp Co.,
 the Board addressed this same argument in respect to determining the proper job description for an employee’s job at the time of injury.  Because 8 AAC 45.525 sets forth exactly the same standards for both the description for the job at the time of the injury and the jobs held within the 10 years prior to the injury, the Gonzalez’s reasoning is persuasive.  In Gonzalez the Board found the statute silent on whether or not a single job description must be applied to every job regardless of its nature.  Gonzalez concluded 8 AAC 45.525(a)(2) supported the RBA Designee’s practice of using more than one SCODDOT description when necessary.  In Grunwald v. Providence Alaska,
 the employer similarly objected to the RBA’s use of a “combination job” for the employee’s work at the time of his injury.  The Board again found the RBA’s practice of combining several job descriptions to gain the most accurate description of the employee’s work did not violate the Act and actually promoted the legislative purposes of predictability, objectivity, and cost reduction.  Both Gonzalez and Grunwald found no abuse of discretion by the RBA Designee in her determination of the employee’s eligibility based upon the “combination job” descriptions submitted by the vocational rehabilitation specialist.  Following these decisions, using a combined SCODDOT to describe the claimant’s job at the time of injury and the jobs he held in the 10 years prior to his injury is consistent with the regulation and past Board decisions. 

There is no merit to the employer’s claim the SCODDOT job descriptions reviewed by Dr. Hadley failed to ask the critical question required by AS 23.30.041(e), “Do you predict the employee will have permanent physical capacities that are equal to or greater than the physical demands of the job described above?”  This question was asked in the questionnaire labeled “prediction of claimant’s physical capacities,” which accompanied all the job descriptions.  Moreover, the question was answered by Dr. Hadley when he limited the claimant to light duty work and documented it on the questionnaire.  

The employer argues CDMS Cortis’ report did not mention Dr. Williams’ opinions or Dr. Tolbert’s opinions regarding the claimant’s ability to return to his job at the time of injury, or other physicians involved in the case.  However, CDMS Cortis’ report reviewed the claimant’s medical records including Dr. Williams’ and Dr. Tolbert’s reports, as well as those of Dr. Rosen, Dr. Craig and SLP Ver Hoef.  Specifically, CDMS Cortis noted Dr. Rosen opined the claimant would have at least a 1% PPI as a result of his work injury and Dr. Williams opined the claimant would be permanently restricted to lifting only 50 pounds occasionally.  She also noted Dr. Tolbert referred the claimant to Dr. Hadley for assistance in vocational matters.  In addition, on May 7, 2008, CDMS Cortis wrote to the RBA Designee noting both Dr. Tolbert and Rosen declined to review the job descriptions, and Dr. Tolbert referred the claimant to Dr. Hadley.  CDMS Cortis also noted Dr. Craig had opined the claimant had some neurocognitive inefficiency and his speed of information processing and speed of responding were significantly diminished.  In addition Dr. Craig maintained the claimant had limitations in his auditory verbal learning, tasks requiring flexibility in thinking and related executive functioning.  CDMS Cortis further remarked the claimant was in therapy with 
SLP Ver Hoef, learning to make functional improvements.  CDMS Cortis she did in fact consider the opinions of the EME physician as well as other physicians involved in the claimant’s care.  It is true CDMS Cortis did not consider the claimant’s neurocognitive deficits in detail in her report, or request Dr. Craig or SLP Ver Hoef review the claimant’s job descriptions.  However, because the claimant’s physical capacity is limited to light work and all his previous jobs are medium level work, there is substantial evidence supporting the RBA Designee’s eligibility determination, and the lack of more detailed consideration of the neurocognitive deficits does not constitute an abuse of discretion.  CDMS Cortis recommended the claimant be found eligible for reemployment benefits, based upon her interview with the claimant, his medical history, and Dr. Hadley’s responses, as well as the employer’s responses.  

Based upon the above analysis, the RBA Designee’s decision the claimant is eligible for reemployment benefits is supported by substantial evidence, and there is no abuse of discretion.  Therefore, the employer’s petition is dismissed.

1. Is the employer in partial default of a penalty award in Gurnett II, and is the claimant entitled to an award of a penalty and interest on the amount of penalties awarded in default?
The issue of penalties was appealed to the AWCAC.  The AWCAC’s Final Decision No. 121, issued November 24, 2009, remands the issue to the Board for further findings.  The Board shall retain jurisdiction over this issue and gather additional evidence as directed by the AWCAC.

2. is the claimant’s attorney entitled to attorney’s fees and costs?
Based on our review of the record, the employer controverted the employee’s claim, and the claimant’s attorney has successfully obtained benefits for the claimant.  The employee’s attorney effectively prosecuted the claimant’s entitlement to benefits and is entitled to attorney's fees under AS 23.30.145(b).  

AS 23.30.145(b) requires the award of attorney's fee and costs be reasonable.  8 AAC 45.180(d) requires a fee awarded under AS 23.30.145(b) be reasonably commensurate with the work performed.  It also requires consideration of the nature, length and complexity of the services performed, as well as the benefits resulting from the services.  In awards for fees and costs, the experience and skills exercised on behalf of injured workers are recognized in order to compensate the attorney accordingly.
  

The claimant’s attorney’s affidavit of fees and costs and statement at the hearing itemize the following for Attorney Steven Constantino:  1) 48.10 hours of attorney time at $345.00 per hour, totaling $16,594.50; 2) 15.1 hours of paralegal time at $145.00 per hour, totaling $2,189.50; and costs totaling $109.99.  Thus, the total of fees and costs for Attorney Steven Constantino is $18,893.99.

We note the claimed hourly rate of $345.00 is within the reasonable range for experienced employees’ counsel in other cases,
 based on expertise and years of experience.  The employee’s counsel’s brief and arguments at hearing were greatly beneficial in considering the disputes in this matter.  This was a hotly contested case.  Actual attorney fees will be awarded at the rate of $345.00 per hour, paralegal fees at $145.00 per hour, and costs of $109.99.  However, because the penalty issue has not been decided, the award will be reduced by the amount attributable to the penalty issue.  Specifically, the award will be reduced by the 15 minutes in hearing time spent arguing the penalty issue.  In addition, the award will be reduced by the following amounts recorded on the affidavit of attorney fees and costs:  1) 2.1 attorney hours for January 14 and 19, 2009 and February 2 and 3, 2009; 2) 0.7 attorney hours for June 22, 2009; and 3) 1.0 attorney hours for July 3, 10, & 16, 2009; for a total reduction of 4.05 attorney hours or $1,297.25.  In addition, based on the employer’s objection to these items, the attorney fees will be reduced by 0.3 attorney hours, or $103.50 for the items on March 26, 2009 relating to surveillance.  However, the attorney fees will not be reduced according to the employer’s other objections.  Thus, the total reduction in attorney fees and costs is $1,400.75.  Jurisdiction over fees related to the penalty issue currently on remand will be maintained.

Having considered the nature, length, and complexity of the services performed, the resistance of the employer, as well as the benefits resulting from the services, a total of $17,493.24 is reasonable attorney fees, paralegal fees, and costs for the successful prosecution of the employee’s claim for benefits.  

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

1. The RBA Designee did not abuse her discretion when she found the claimant eligible for reemployment benefits.
2. The issues of the employer’s partial default of the penalty award in Gurnett II and penalty and interest on the default will be decided according to the AWCAC Decision No. 121 (November 24, 2009).
3. The claimant’s attorney is entitled to attorney fees and costs in the amount of $17,493.24.

ORDERS

1. The employer’s Petition for Review of the RBA Designee’s May 6, 2009 determination that the claimant is eligible for reemployment benefits is denied.

2. The employer shall pay to the claimant’s attorney $17,493.24 in attorney fees and costs.

3. The issues of whether the employer is in partial default under AS 23.30.170 of a penalty award under Gurnett II and whether penalties and interest are due on any default shall not be decided until after the AWCAC issues its opinion in the matter of the penalty in this case.

Dated at Anchorage, Alaska on December 31, 2009.
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If compensation is payable under terms of this decision, it is due on the date of issue.  A penalty of 25 percent will accrue if not paid within 14 days of the due date, unless an interlocutory order staying payment is obtained in Superior Court.

If compensation is awarded, but not paid within 30 days of this decision, the person to whom the compensation is payable may, within one year after the default of payment, request from the board a supplementary order declaring the amount of the default.

APPEAL PROCEDURES
This compensation order is a final decision.  It becomes effective when filed in the office of the Board unless proceedings to appeal it are instituted.  Effective November 7, 2005 proceedings to appeal must be instituted in the Alaska Workers’ Compensation Appeals Commission within 30 days of the filing of this decision and be brought by a party in interest against the Board and all other parties to the proceedings before the Board. If a request for reconsideration of this final decision is timely filed with the Board, any proceedings to appeal must be instituted within 30 days after the reconsideration decision is mailed to the parties or within 30 days after the date the reconsideration request is considered denied due to the absence of any action on the reconsideration request, whichever is earlier. AS 23.30.127

An appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission: (1) a signed notice of appeal specifying the board order appealed from and 2) a statement of the grounds upon which the appeal is taken.  A cross-appeal may be initiated by filing with the office of the Appeals Commission a signed notice of cross-appeal within 30 days after the board decision is filed or within 15 days after service of a notice of appeal, whichever is later.  The notice of cross-appeal shall specify the board order appealed from and the grounds upon which the cross-appeal is taken.  AS 23.30.128.

RECONSIDERATION
A party may ask the Board to reconsider this decision by filing a petition for reconsideration under AS 44.62.540 and in accordance with 8 AAC 45.050.  The petition requesting reconsideration must be filed with the Board within 15 days after delivery or mailing of this decision.

MODIFICATION
Within one year after the rejection of a claim, or within one year after the last payment of benefits under AS 23.30.180, 23.30.185, 23.30.190, 23.30.200, or 23.30.215, a party may ask the Board to modify this decision under AS 23.30.130 by filing a petition in accordance with 8 AAC 45.150 and 8 AAC 45.050.
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� In Denuptiis v. Unocal Corp., 63 P.3d 272 (Alaska 2003), the Alaska Supreme Court held that, in the absence of any specific standard of proof, we must apply the preponderance of the evidence standard from the Alaska Administrative Procedure Act, AS 44.62.460(e).


� Claimant’s 6/12/08 deposition, at 59.
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� See, Claimant’s Hearing Brief, Exhibit 9.


� Id.


� Id. at 79-80.


� PAMC ER note of Dr. Carey, 9/28/07.


� Id.


� Id., and Head CT report of Christopher Kottra, M.D., 9/28/07.


� Id.


� Employee’s hearing testimony.


� Horner’s syndrome is a neurologic condition characterized by miotic pupils, ptosis, and facial anhidrosis, due to damage to a cervical nerve.  Miotic pupil means a constricted pupil.  Ptosis means a drooping eyelid.  Anhidrosis means inadequate perspiration.  Mosby’s Medical, Nursing, and Allied Health Dictionary, Sixth Edition, 2002.


� The carotid arteries supply the head and neck.  Mosby’s Medical, Nursing, and Allied Health Dictionary, Sixth Edition, 2002.


� Id.


� ROI, 10/4/07.


� Id.


� Brain MRI scan report of Dr. Moeller, 10/9/07.


� The internal carotid arteries supply blood to many structures and organs in the head.  Mosby’s Medical, Nursing, and Allied Health Dictionary, Sixth Edition, 2002.
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� MRI scan report of Dr. Moeller, 10/9/07.
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� Dr. Rosen’s clinic note, 10/11/07.
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� MRI angiogram of Bryan Winn, M.D., 10/11/07.
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� Neck MRI angiogram report of Dr. Winn, 10/11/07.


� Dr. Tolbert’s clinic note, 10/15/07.
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� Dr. Tolbert’s 10/18/07 letter to the employer.
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� EME report of Dr. Williams, 10/29/07.
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� Id. at 6


� Id. 


� Dr. Tolbert’s clinic note, 11/5/07.
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� Dr. Tolbert’s procedure note, 11/15/07.
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� Dr. Tolbert’s clinic note, 11/26/07.
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� Dr. Rosen’s clinic note, 12/6/07.


� Id.


� Employer’s letter to Dr. Tolbert, 1/10/08, Employee’s Hearing Brief Exhibit 8.


� Id.


� Head MRI angiogram report of Dr. Winn, 2/4/08.


� Id.


� Id.


� Brain MRI report of Dr. Winn, 2/4/08.


� Neck MRI angiogram report of Dr. Winn, 2/7/08.


� Id.


� Note signed by Dr. Tolbert and received by employer, 2/13/08.


� Job description provided by employer, employee’s hearing brief exhibit 8.


� Employer’s 2/26/08 email to Dr. Tolbert, employee’s hearing brief exhibit 10.


� WCC, 2/27/08.


� Id.


� Employer’s Answer to 2/27/08 WCC.
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